

EXHIBIT A

1 Robert P. Charrow (CA SBN 44962)
2 Laura M. Klaus (DC SBN 294272) (*Pro Hac to be Filed*)
3 GREENBERG TRAUERIG, LLP
4 800 Connecticut Avenue, N.W., Ste. 500
5 Washington, D.C. 20006
6 Telephone: (202) 533-2396
7 Facsimile: (202) 261-0164
8 Email: charrowr@gtlaw.com
9 Email: klausl@gtlaw.com

6 William J. Goines (SBN 61290)
7 Karen Rosenthal (SBN 209419)
8 Cindy Hamilton (SBN 217951)
9 GREENBERG TRAUERIG, LLP
10 1900 University Avenue, Fifth Floor
11 East Palo Alto, CA 94303
12 Telephone: (650) 328-8500
13 Facsimile: (650) 328-8508
14 Email: goinesw@gtlaw.com
15 rosenthalk@gtlaw.com

11 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Intervenors

13 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

14 NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

16 AMERICAN FEDERATION OF LABOR AND
17 CONGRESS OF INDUSTRIAL
18 ORGANIZATIONS; SAN FRANCISCO LABOR
19 COUNCIL; SAN FRANCISCO BUILDING AND
20 CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL; and
21 CENTRAL LABOR COUNCIL OF ALAMEDA
22 COUNTY,

20 Plaintiffs,

21 v.

22 MICHAEL CHERTOFF, Secretary of Homeland
23 Security; DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND
24 SECURITY; JULIE MYERS, Assistant Secretary
25 of Homeland Security; U.S. IMMIGRATION
26 AND CUSTOMS ENFORCEMENT; MICHAEL
27 ASTRUE, Commissioner of Social Security; and
28 SOCIAL SECURITY ADMINISTRATION,

26 Defendant(s).

Case No. C07-04472 CRB

**[PROPOSED] COMPLAINT IN
INTERVENTION**

1 SAN FRANCISCO CHAMBER OF
2 COMMERCE,
3 CHAMBER OF COMMERCE OF THE UNITED
4 STATES OF AMERICA , GOLDEN GATE
5 RESTAURANT ASSOCIATION,
6 NATIONAL ROOFING CONTRACTORS
7 ASSOCIATION, AMERICAN NURSERY &
8 LANDSCAPE ASSOCIATION,
9 INTERNATIONAL FRANCHISE
10 ASSOCIATION, and UNITED FRESH
11 PRODUCE ASSOCIATION,

12
13 Plaintiff-Intervenors

14 v.

15
16 MICHAEL CHERTOFF, Secretary of Homeland
17 Security; DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND
18 SECURITY;
19 JULIE MYERS, Assistant Secretary of Homeland
20 Security; U.S. IMMIGRATION AND CUSTOMS
21 ENFORCEMENT; MICHAEL ASTRUE,
22 Commissioner of Social Security; and SOCIAL
23 SECURITY ADMINISTRATION,

24
25 Defendants.
26
27
28

29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91
92
93
94
95
96
97
98
99
100
101
102
103
104
105
106
107
108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115
116
117
118
119
120
121
122
123
124
125
126
127
128
129
130
131
132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148
149
150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171
172
173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197
198
199
200
201
202
203
204
205
206
207
208
209
210
211
212
213
214
215
216
217
218
219
220
221
222
223
224
225
226
227
228
229
230
231
232
233
234
235
236
237
238
239
240
241
242
243
244
245
246
247
248
249
250
251
252
253
254
255
256
257
258
259
260
261
262
263
264
265
266
267
268
269
270
271
272
273
274
275
276
277
278
279
280
281
282
283
284
285
286
287
288
289
290
291
292
293
294
295
296
297
298
299
300
301
302
303
304
305
306
307
308
309
310
311
312
313
314
315
316
317
318
319
320
321
322
323
324
325
326
327
328
329
330
331
332
333
334
335
336
337
338
339
340
341
342
343
344
345
346
347
348
349
350
351
352
353
354
355
356
357
358
359
360
361
362
363
364
365
366
367
368
369
370
371
372
373
374
375
376
377
378
379
380
381
382
383
384
385
386
387
388
389
390
391
392
393
394
395
396
397
398
399
400
401
402
403
404
405
406
407
408
409
410
411
412
413
414
415
416
417
418
419
420
421
422
423
424
425
426
427
428
429
430
431
432
433
434
435
436
437
438
439
440
441
442
443
444
445
446
447
448
449
450
451
452
453
454
455
456
457
458
459
460
461
462
463
464
465
466
467
468
469
470
471
472
473
474
475
476
477
478
479
480
481
482
483
484
485
486
487
488
489
490
491
492
493
494
495
496
497
498
499
500
501
502
503
504
505
506
507
508
509
510
511
512
513
514
515
516
517
518
519
520
521
522
523
524
525
526
527
528
529
530
531
532
533
534
535
536
537
538
539
540
541
542
543
544
545
546
547
548
549
550
551
552
553
554
555
556
557
558
559
560
561
562
563
564
565
566
567
568
569
570
571
572
573
574
575
576
577
578
579
580
581
582
583
584
585
586
587
588
589
590
591
592
593
594
595
596
597
598
599
600
601
602
603
604
605
606
607
608
609
610
611
612
613
614
615
616
617
618
619
620
621
622
623
624
625
626
627
628
629
630
631
632
633
634
635
636
637
638
639
640
641
642
643
644
645
646
647
648
649
650
651
652
653
654
655
656
657
658
659
660
661
662
663
664
665
666
667
668
669
670
671
672
673
674
675
676
677
678
679
680
681
682
683
684
685
686
687
688
689
690
691
692
693
694
695
696
697
698
699
700
701
702
703
704
705
706
707
708
709
710
711
712
713
714
715
716
717
718
719
720
721
722
723
724
725
726
727
728
729
730
731
732
733
734
735
736
737
738
739
740
741
742
743
744
745
746
747
748
749
750
751
752
753
754
755
756
757
758
759
760
761
762
763
764
765
766
767
768
769
770
771
772
773
774
775
776
777
778
779
780
781
782
783
784
785
786
787
788
789
790
791
792
793
794
795
796
797
798
799
800
801
802
803
804
805
806
807
808
809
810
811
812
813
814
815
816
817
818
819
820
821
822
823
824
825
826
827
828
829
830
831
832
833
834
835
836
837
838
839
840
841
842
843
844
845
846
847
848
849
850
851
852
853
854
855
856
857
858
859
860
861
862
863
864
865
866
867
868
869
870
871
872
873
874
875
876
877
878
879
880
881
882
883
884
885
886
887
888
889
890
891
892
893
894
895
896
897
898
899
900
901
902
903
904
905
906
907
908
909
910
911
912
913
914
915
916
917
918
919
920
921
922
923
924
925
926
927
928
929
930
931
932
933
934
935
936
937
938
939
940
941
942
943
944
945
946
947
948
949
950
951
952
953
954
955
956
957
958
959
960
961
962
963
964
965
966
967
968
969
970
971
972
973
974
975
976
977
978
979
980
981
982
983
984
985
986
987
988
989
990
991
992
993
994
995
996
997
998
999
1000

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. On August 15, 2007, the Secretary of Homeland Security issued a Final Rule that sought to change the nation’s human resource practices for all American businesses large and small. The Final Rule, which was to become effective on September 14, 2007, would require businesses to resolve so-called “no-match” letters from the Social Security Administration in 30 days, and if unable to do so, then employees are given an additional 63 days to do so or risk termination. The Secretary had announced that starting on September 4, “no-match” letters identifying approximately 8,000,000 employees would be sent by the Social Security Administration to 140,000 employers nation-wide. A “no-match” occurs whenever there is a discrepancy between an employee’s name and Social Security Number (“SSN”) in the Social Security Administration (“SSA”) database. SSA, though, has acknowledged that its database contains more than 17 million so-called no-matches. Many are due to benign causes such as a change of name following marriage, a clerical error by the employee, employer or SSA, use of multiple surnames, varied naming conventions or other reasons having

1 nothing to do with an employee's immigration status. Given that the correlation between an
2 employee's immigration status and an employer's receipt of a no-match letter for that employee is
3 unknown or low, using the no-match letter as a tool to enforce immigration laws is wasteful, costly to
4 the business community, and an awkward attempt by the Department of Homeland Security ("DHS")
5 to commandeer the Social Security retirement and disability systems to enforce the nation's
6 immigration laws, all at the expense of innocent employers and employees.

7 2. The Secretary certified that this regulation, affecting virtually every business in the
8 United States, "would not have a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small
9 entities," including the nation's 5,300 hospitals, more than 2,000 colleges and universities, and nearly
10 900,000 small business restaurants employing more than 11 million workers. 72 Fed. Reg. 45611,
11 45623 (Aug. 15, 2007). Accordingly, the Secretary refused to conduct a regulatory flexibility
12 analysis, as required by the Regulatory Flexibility Act. *See* 5 U.S.C. § 601 *et seq.* This lawsuit seeks
13 an order declaring that the Final Rule is invalid (i) for want of a regulatory flexibility analysis, (ii) for
14 want of statutory authorization, (iii) for want of evidence in the preamble to the proposed or final rule
15 that a no-match letter reliably indicates an employee's immigration status, and vacating the Final
16 Rule and enjoining its enforcement as detailed below.

17 II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

18 3. This court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to:

19 a. 28 U.S.C. § 1331, which confers original jurisdiction over all civil suits arising
20 under the Constitution and the laws of the United States, and 28 U.S.C. § 2201 (authorizing
21 declaratory relief), 5 U.S.C. § 601 *et seq.* (Regulatory Flexibility Act), and 5 U.S.C. § 701 *et seq.*
22 (judicial review provisions of the Administrative Procedure Act).

23 b. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e).

24 III. VENUE AND INTRA-DISTRICT ASSIGNMENT

25 4. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(e) because Plaintiff-
26 Intervenors San Francisco Chamber of Commerce and Golden Gate Restaurant Association reside in
27 this judicial district.
28

1 D.C. and employing more than 500 individuals. The Chamber of Commerce is the world's largest
2 business federation with an underlying membership of more than 3 million businesses of all sizes,
3 sectors, and regions. The Chamber of Commerce is a small organization within the meaning of the
4 Regulatory Flexibility Act and more than 96% of its members are small businesses as that term is
5 defined in section three of the Small Business Act. Based on the Chamber's experience as an
6 employer it is highly unlikely that SSA would be able to resolve the more than 8 million no-matches
7 within the time contemplated by the Final Rule. The Chamber and its members will be imminently
8 and irreparably harmed if the Final Rule was to go into effect. The Chamber is bringing this suit both
9 on behalf of itself as a small entity employer which is apt to receive a no-match letter and on behalf
10 of its members many of which will also receive such letters.

11 8. Plaintiff-Intervenor Golden Gate Restaurant Association ("GGRA") is a not-for-profit
12 membership corporation headquartered in San Francisco. GGRA has more than 800 restaurant
13 members throughout the Northern District of California; many of those members have received no-
14 match letters in the past and fully expect to receive them in the future. GGRA is a small organization
15 within the meaning of the Regulatory Flexibility Act and most of its members are small businesses
16 within the meaning of section 3 of the Small Business Act. Based on GGRA's experience as an
17 employer, it is highly unlikely that SSA would be able to resolve the more than 8 million no-matches
18 within the time contemplated by the Final Rule. GGRA and its members will be imminently and
19 irreparably harmed if the Final Rule was to go into effect. GGRA is bringing this suit both on its
20 behalf as a small entity employer and on behalf of its members many of which will receive no-match
21 letters.

22 9. Plaintiff-Intervenor National Roofing Contractors Association ("NRCA") is a not-for-
23 profit membership organization headquartered in Rosemont, Illinois and employing more than 70
24 individuals. The NRCA is a small organization within the meaning of the Regulatory Flexibility Act
25 and more than 95% of its 4,200 members are small businesses within the meaning of section 3 of the
26 Small Business Act. More than 30 of its small business members are headquartered in this District.
27 The financial costs for NRCA and its members to resolve no-match letters are substantial and not
28 necessarily linear. Those costs involve overtime for those in human resources, lost productivity for

1 those employees named in such letters, increased unemployment insurance premiums in the event
2 that the employees who are unable to resolve a no-match letter within the requisite period and are
3 terminated. Based on NRCA's experience as an employer, it is highly unlikely that SSA would be
4 able to resolve the more than 8 million no-matches within the time contemplated by the Final Rule.
5 NCRA and its members will be imminently and irreparably harmed if the Final Rule was to go into
6 effect. NRCA is bringing this suit both on behalf of itself as a small entity employer which is apt to
7 receive a no-match letter and on behalf of its members, many of which will also receive such letters.

8 10. Plaintiff-Intervenor United Fresh Produce Association ("United Fresh") is a not-for-
9 profit membership organization headquartered in Washington, D.C. United Fresh has more than 290
10 small business members; many of those members have received no-match letters in the past and fully
11 expect to receive them in the future. United Fresh is a small organization within the meaning of the
12 Regulatory Flexibility Act and most of its business members are small businesses within the meaning
13 of section 3 of the Small Business Act. Based on United Fresh's experience as an employer, it is
14 highly unlikely that SSA would be able to resolve the more than 8 million no-matches within the time
15 contemplated by the Final Rule. United Fresh and its members will be imminently and irreparably
16 harmed if the Final Rule was to go into effect. United Fresh is bringing this suit both on its behalf as
17 a small entity employer and on behalf of its members many of which will receive no-match letters.

18 11. Plaintiff-Intervenor American Nursery & Landscape Association ("ANLA") is a not-
19 for-profit membership corporation headquartered in Washington, D.C. ANLA has more than 2,000
20 members, 98% of which are small businesses; many of those members have received no-match letters
21 in the past and fully expect to receive them in the future. ANLA is a small organization within the
22 meaning of the Regulatory Flexibility Act and most of its members are small businesses within the
23 meaning of section 3 of the Small Business Act. Based on ANLA's experience as an employer, it is
24 highly unlikely that SSA would be able to resolve the more than 8 million no-matches within the time
25 contemplated by the Final Rule. ANLA and its members will be imminently and irreparably harmed
26 if the Final Rule was to go into effect. ANLA is bringing this suit both on its behalf as a small entity
27 employer and on behalf of its members many of which will receive no-match letters.

1 12. Plaintiff-Intervenor International Franchise Association (“IFA”) is a not-for-profit
2 membership corporation headquartered in Washington, D.C. IFA has more than 11,000 members,
3 including 1,200 franchisor members, 10,000 franchisee members and 400 supplier members.
4 Approximately half of IFA’s franchisor members and virtually all of its franchisee members are small
5 businesses; many of those members have received no-match letters in the past and fully expect to
6 receive them in the future. IFA is a small organization within the meaning of the Regulatory
7 Flexibility Act and many of its members are small businesses within the meaning of section 3 of the
8 Small Business Act. Based on IFA’s experience as an employer, it is highly unlikely that SSA would
9 be able to resolve the more than 8 million no-matches within the time contemplated by the Final
10 Rule. IFA and its members will be imminently and irreparably harmed if the Final Rule was to go
11 into effect. IFA is bringing this suit both on its behalf as a small entity employer and on behalf of its
12 members many of which will receive no-match letters.

13 **B. Defendants**

14 13. Defendant Department of Homeland Security is the federal agency charged with, *inter*
15 *alia*, the administration and enforcement of federal immigration laws. DHS promulgated the rule
16 entitled “Safe Harbor Procedures for Employers That Receive a No Match Letter,” 72 Fed. Reg.
17 45611 (Aug. 15, 2007), that is challenged in this litigation.

18 14. Defendant U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement (“ICE”) is a federal agency
19 within DHS responsible for investigating and enforcing immigration laws, including 8 U.S.C. §
20 1324a. DHS and ICE created the Guidance Letter regarding the DHS Final Rule that SSA intends to
21 send to employers along with its “no-match” letters.

22 15. Defendant Michael Chertoff is the Secretary of Homeland Security (“Secretary”), the
23 agency responsible for having issuing the regulation at issue and the agency that will implement the
24 regulation at issue. Defendant Chertoff is being sued in his official capacity only.

25 16. Defendant Julie Myers is the Assistant Secretary of Homeland Security for ICE, the
26 agency within the Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”) directly responsible for implementing,
27 investigating and enforcing immigration laws, including the no-match letters and Final Rule.
28 Defendant Myers is being sued in her official capacity only.

1 17. Defendant Social Security Administration is a federal agency charged with
2 administration of the Social Security Act, and with processing information to administer Social
3 Security programs. Defendant SSA maintains databases of employee information and periodically
4 generates “no-match” letters to employers that submit Forms W-2 to report employee earnings if
5 employee names and SSNs do not match SSA records. *See* Social Security Act § 232, 42 U.S.C. §
6 432; 20 C.F.R. § 422.120. Beginning on September 4, 2007, Defendant SSA intended to send the
7 DHS/ICE Guidance Letter to employers along with its “no-match” letters.

8 18. Defendant Michael Astrue is the Commissioner of Social Security and is responsible
9 for all programs administered by SSA. He is sued in his official capacity.

10 V. BACKGROUND

11 A. Social Security Administration “No Match” Letters

12 19. The Social Security Act of 1935 authorizes SSA to establish a record-keeping system
13 to manage the Social Security program. Congress also granted SSA authority to process tax
14 information for purposes of administering the Social Security program, as a specific exception to the
15 exclusive tax authority of the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”). *See* 26 U.S.C. § 6103(l)(5); SSA §
16 232, 42 U.S.C. § 432. Pursuant to that delegation of authority, the IRS and SSA created a joint
17 system for the processing of Forms W-2 called the Combined Annual Wage Reporting System
18 (“CAWR”). *See* 43 Fed. Reg. 60158 (Dec. 26, 1978) (codified at 26 C.F.R. § 31.6051).

19 20. Under the CAWR, employers annually report employee earnings using Forms W-2,
20 and SSA posts those earnings to individual employees’ Social Security records so employees will
21 receive credit for those earnings when they apply for Social Security benefits—either retirement or
22 disability. SSA then forwards the Forms W-2 to the IRS.

23 21. If SSA cannot match the name and Social Security Number (“SSN”) on a Form W-2
24 with SSA’s records, SSA places the earnings report in its Earnings Suspense File. *See* 20 C.F.R. §
25 422.120. The earnings remain in the Earnings Suspense File until SSA can link them to a name and
26 SSN.

27 22. Every year, SSA receives millions of earnings reports that the SSA cannot match with
28 its records. The Earnings Suspense File is a huge database that contains more than 255 million

1 unmatched earnings records and that is growing at the rate of 8 to 11 million unmatched records per
2 year. About four percent of annual Form W-2 earnings reports are placed in the SSA's Earnings
3 Suspense File.

4 23. SSA records are mismatched for many unrelated to immigration status including: (a)
5 clerical errors by either an employer or SSA in spelling an employee's name or recording the SSN,
6 (b) SSA's issuance of duplicate SSNs or re-issuance of SSNs of deceased individuals, (c) employee
7 name changes after marriage or divorce, (d) employees that use a less "foreign" sounding first name
8 for work purposes, and (e) different naming conventions (such as the use of multiple surnames) that
9 are commonplace in many parts of the world, particularly in some Latin American and Asian
10 countries.

11 24. The most recent Government Accountability Office ("GAO") report on the SSA's
12 Earnings Suspense File concluded that the file "[c]ontains information about many U.S. citizens as
13 well as non-citizens" and that "the overall percentage of unauthorized workers is *unknown*." GAO-
14 06-814R, at 8 (emphasis added). When SSA ultimately has been able to resolve data discrepancies,
15 "most . . . belong to U.S.-born citizens, not to unauthorized workers," which GAO concluded "is an
16 indication that a significant number of earnings reports in the [Earnings Suspense File] belong to U.S.
17 Citizens and work-authorized noncitizens." *Id.*

18 25. As part of its administration of the Social Security program, SSA periodically sends
19 out letters, commonly known as "no-match" letters, informing employers that SSNs and employee
20 names reported on Forms W-2 did not match SSA's records. *See* 20 C.F.R. § 422.120.

21 26. SSA no-match letters are purely advisory. SSA has no authority to sanction
22 employers that fail to respond to no-match letters.

23 27. Pursuant to its regulations, SSA notifies the IRS of incomplete or inaccurate earnings
24 reports. *See* 20 C.F.R. § 422.120. In 1986, Congress authorized IRS to impose sanctions on
25 employers that submit false or inaccurate tax information. *See* 26 U.S.C. § 6721; *see also* 26 C.F.R.
26 § 301.6721-1. Under IRS regulations, an employer is not subject to sanction if the employer
27 accurately and in good faith transmits the name and SSN provided by an employee. *See* 26 U.S.C. §
28 6724(a); 26 C.F.R. § 301.6724-1. Insofar as the Internal Revenue Code is concerned, a reasonable

1 employer's response to a no-match letter is to confirm that the employer is accurately transmitting the
2 name and SSN provided by the employee and to advise the employee that SSA is reporting a no-
3 match. *Id.*

4 28. SSA is not an immigration agency and does not know whether a particular SSN listed
5 in a no-match letter relates to unauthorized work. SSA also is prohibited by tax privacy statutes
6 from sharing the information in the Earnings Suspense File with the DHS. Until now, SSA's no-
7 match letters explained to employers: "This letter does not imply that you or your employee
8 intentionally gave the government wrong information" and "makes no statement regarding an
9 employee's immigration status." Until now, the SSA has never included information from an
10 immigration-enforcement agency with its no-match letters.

11 **B. Employer Verification of Work Authorization and Employer Sanctions**

12 29. The Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 ("IRCA") made it unlawful for
13 employers to "to hire . . . for employment in the United States an alien *knowing* the alien is an
14 unauthorized alien." 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(a)(1)(A) (emphasis added).

15 30. IRCA also separately made it unlawful for employers to hire without complying with
16 an initial verification process established by Congress. *See* 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(a)(1)(B). That
17 verification process requires the employee to present the employer with documents to show proof of
18 identity and work authorization and requires the employer and employee to complete an I-9
19 verification form. *See* 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(b); 8 C.F.R. § 274a.2. To satisfy the I-9 requirements,
20 Plaintiffs require all prospective employees to provide documentation proving identity and
21 demonstrating that the employee is authorized to work in the United States. Thus, prospective
22 employees provide various documents including United States passports, alien registration cards (*i.e.*,
23 Green Card), and Employee Authorization Documents issued by the DHS permitting the individual to
24 work in the United States.

25 31. IRCA also makes it unlawful for an employer "to continue to employ an alien . . .
26 *knowing* the alien is (or has become) an unauthorized alien with respect to such employment." 8
27 U.S.C. § 1324a(a)(2) (emphasis added).
28

1 32. IRCA specifically exempted employees hired before IRCA's enactment on November
2 6, 1986, from the hiring prohibition and the verification process. Pub. L. No. 99-603 § 101(a)(3), 100
3 Stat. 3359 (1986) (codified at 8 U.S.C. § 1324a note).

4 33. Employers that violate IRCA are subject to civil and criminal liability. *See* 8 U.S.C. §
5 1324a(e)(4)-(5), (f).

6 34. At the same time that Congress imposed employer sanctions, Congress also wanted to
7 prevent employer discrimination based on national origin or citizenship status. IRCA therefore
8 makes it illegal for employers to discriminate based on national origin or citizenship status, including
9 by requesting "more or different documents than are required" for the initial I-9 verification or
10 "refusing to honor documents . . . that on their face reasonably appear to be genuine." 8 U.S.C. §
11 1324b(a)(1), (6).

12 35. Congress intentionally did not impose in IRCA any employment authorization
13 verification for existing employees. Congress also chose not to impose ongoing re-verification
14 requirements after the initial hire unless documents evidencing temporary work authorization are
15 time limited.

16 **C. New Department of Homeland Security Rule**

17 36. Until now, neither DHS nor its predecessor immigration-enforcement agencies had
18 taken the position that an employer's failure to make further inquiries into the work-authorization
19 status of an employee subject to an SSA no-match letter meant that the employer had actual
20 knowledge that it was employing an unauthorized worker. The Immigration and Naturalization
21 Service had recognized that no-match discrepancies occur for many innocent reasons and therefore
22 consistently advised employers in opinion letters that "[w]e would not consider notice of this
23 discrepancy from SSA to an employer by itself to put the employer on notice that the employee is
24 unauthorized to work." The most recent SSA letter on the materiality of a no-match letter states as
25 follows: "This notice also specifically cautions employers that these letters . . . do not make any
26 statement about an employee's immigration status[.]"

27 <<http://www.ssa.gov/legislation/nomatch2.htm>> (last viewed Sept. 6, 2007).
28

1 37. On June 14, 2006, Defendant Chertoff issued a notice of proposed rulemaking
 2 soliciting public comments on his proposal to use the Social Security database, and, in particular,
 3 SSA no-match letters as vehicle for enforcing the immigration laws. *See* 71 Fed. Reg. 34281 (June
 4 14, 2006). The preamble concluded, in part, as follows:

5 The Secretary of Homeland Security, in accordance with the Regulatory Flexibility
 6 Act, 5 U.S.C. 605(b), has reviewed this regulation and, by approving it, certifies that
 7 this rule would not have a significant economic impact on a substantial number of
 8 small entities. This rule would not affect small entities as that term is defined in 5
 9 U.S.C. 601(6). *Id.* at 34284.

10 38. As result, the Secretary did not conduct a Regulatory Flexibility Act analysis.

11 39. More than 5,000 comments were received by DHS during the 60-day comment period,
 12 including comments that disputed DHS' authority to adopt the rule, and DHS' assertion that the rule
 13 "would not affect small entities." Plaintiff-Intervenors or coalitions of which they are members were
 14 among those that submitted comments objecting to the rule. The comment period closed on
 15 August 14, 2006.

16 40. Shortly after Congress left for recess without enacting immigration reform legislation
 17 urged by DHS, the agency issued its final rule on August 15, 2007 (hereinafter, the "DHS Final
 18 Rule"). *See* 72 Fed. Reg. 45611 (Aug. 15, 2007). The DHS Final Rule is entitled "Safe-Harbor
 19 Procedures for Employers Who Receive a No-Match Letter." The DHS Final Rule was to become
 20 legally effective on September 14, 2007.

21 41. The DHS Final Rule will amend the definition of "*knowing*" in 8 C.F.R. §
 22 274a.1(l)(1), the regulatory subsection that defines the term "*knowing*" for purposes of IRCA. The
 23 amended regulation will list, as an example of an employer that has "constructive knowledge" that an
 24 employee is an "unauthorized alien," an employer that receives a SSA no-match letter and then "fails
 25 to take reasonable steps." The first part of the amended regulation will provide:

26 (l)(1) The term *knowing* includes having actual or constructive knowledge. . . .
 27 Examples of situations where the employer may, depending upon the totality
 28 of the relevant circumstances, have constructive knowledge that an employee
 is an unauthorized alien include, but are not limited to, situations where the
 employer:

(iii) Fails to take reasonable steps after receiving information
 indicating that the employee may be an alien who is not employment
authorized, such as -

1
2 (B) Written notice to the employer from the Social Security
3 Administration reporting earnings on a Form W-2 that employees'
4 names and corresponding social security account numbers fail to match
5 Social Security Administration records

6 42. Having created a threat of IRCA liability for employers receiving SSA no-match
7 letters, the DHS Final Rule then offers employers a "safe harbor." An employer receiving a SSA no-
8 match letter "will be considered by the Department of Homeland Security to have taken reasonable
9 steps – and receipt of the written notice will therefore not be used as evidence of constructive
10 knowledge – if the employer" takes the actions specified by DHS. These are "the only combination
11 of steps that will guarantee that DHS will not use the employer's receipt of the notices from SSA . . .
12 as evidence of constructive knowledge that an employee is an unauthorized alien." 72 Fed. Reg. at
13 45618.

14 43. To qualify for the DHS "safe harbor," an employer that determines the SSA no-match
15 was not the result of its own clerical error (which must be done in 30 days) must instruct the
16 employee who claims that the name and SSN are correct to resolve the discrepancy with SSA within
17 90 days of receipt of the no-match letter. If the employee is unable to resolve the discrepancy with
18 SSA within 90 days, the employer cannot continue to employ the individual unless the individual can
19 complete within three days a new employment eligibility verification, on a new I-9 form, using only
20 documents that contain photo identification and no documents that contain the disputed SSN, even if
21 the employee still insists the SSN is correct. If employees insist that their names and SSNs on their
22 identification documents are correct but have not resolved the discrepancy with SSA by the deadline,
23 or cannot produce the required additional photo identification, the employer would have to fire them
24 in order to be afforded the "safe harbor."

25 **D. Implementation of the DHS Final Rule by DHS and SSA**

26 44. On September 4, 2007, DHS and SSA intended to begin sending employers no-match
27 letters that will be accompanied by a letter from DHS and ICE (hereinafter the "DHS/ICE Guidance
28 Letter"). This Court's Temporary Restraining Order of August 31, 2007, temporarily precluded the
issuance of those letters. The DHS/ICE Guidance Letter states that it will "provide guidance on how

1 to respond to the enclosed letter from the Social Security Administration (SSA) . . . in a manner that
2 is consistent with your obligations under United States Immigration Laws.”

3 45. The DHS/ICE Guidance Letter contains questions and answers, which begin with the
4 following:

5 **Q: Can I simply disregard the letter from SSA?**

6 **A: No.** You have received official notification of a problem that may have
7 significant legal consequences for your employees. If you elect to disregard the notice
8 you have received and it is determined that some employees listed in the enclosed
letter were not authorized to work, the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) could
determine that you have violated the law by knowingly continuing to employ
unauthorized persons. This could lead to civil and criminal sanctions.

9 46. After threatening employers with civil and criminal liability, the DHS/ICE Guidance
10 Letter then asks: **“Q: What should I do?”** and responds that “You should” follow the steps set out
11 in the DHS Final Rule.

12 47. The DHS/ICE Guidance Letter assures employers that, if they follow those procedures
13 for every no-match, they will not be liable for discrimination if they terminate employees:

14 **Q: Will I be liable for discrimination charges brought by the United States if
15 I terminate the employee after I follow the steps outlined above?**

16 **A: No. . . .”**

17 48. The DHS/ICE Guidance Letter conveniently ignores those Civil Rights laws
18 administered by other federal agencies, by the States, or by private interests, such as Title VII of the
19 Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., Ku Klux Klan Act of 1867, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1981,
20 1988, California Anti-Discrimination Laws, all of which would be potentially implicated were an
21 employer to terminate employees solely because of the Final Rule or because of the Final Rule as
22 implemented by the Guidance Letter.

23 49. SSA has revised its no-match letters so that they direct employers to follow the
24 instructions in the accompanying DHS/ICE Guidance Letter.

25 50. SSA and DHS intended to commence sending the revised no-match letters and the
26 DHS/ICE Guidance Letter to employers on September 4, 2007. Between September 4, 2007 and
27 November 9, 2007, the SSA expected to mail no-match letters to approximately 140,000 employers
28

1 around the country. Each letter will list at least 10 mismatched SSNs and some letters will list 500 or
2 more. Approximately 8.7 million employees will be affected by this initial wave of mailings.

3 51. SSA will continue to mail additional batches of no-match letters after November 9,
4 2007, to hundreds of thousands of other employers.

5 **E. Effect of Implementation of the New DHS Final Rule**

6 52. Implementation of the DHS Final Rule following the expiration of this Court's TRO
7 will immediately impose new obligations in violation of law on every employer governed by IRCA.

8 53. The imminent SSA mailing will immediately impose substantial administrative costs
9 on at least 140,000 employers, including Plaintiff-Intervenors and their members, and additional
10 employers will be affected as SSA continues in the future to send out no-match letters accompanied
11 by the DHS/ICE Guidance Letter. Given that the initial DHS/SSA mailing would cover
12 approximately 8.7 million SSNs, the cost to resolve those will easily exceed \$100 million and there is
13 no assurance that they could be resolved within the regulatory period. Indeed, there is no evidence
14 whatsoever in the administrative record to suggest that the so-called "safe harbor" window can be
15 achieved, especially when SSA will be flooded with such requests.

16 54. A substantial portion of the several million no-match SSNs that are listed in the initial
17 round of SSA no-match letters will relate to U.S. citizens or non-citizens lawfully entitled to work. A
18 substantial number of these United States citizen no-matches are employed by Plaintiff-Intervenors
19 and their small business members.

20 55. As a result of implementation of the DHS Final Rule, including the DHS/ICE
21 Guidance Letter, Plaintiff-Intervenors and their members will immediately be forced to spend time
22 and effort to resolve SSA data discrepancies, including taking time to visit SSA field offices that are
23 open only during business hours and that will be overwhelmed with similar requests from other
24 employers and employees.

25 56. Many individuals lawfully employed by the Plaintiff-Intervenors and their small
26 business members will be unable to resolve data discrepancies with the SSA bureaucracy within the
27 90-day deadline set out in the DHS Final Rule; those employees risk termination even though they
28 are United States Citizens or lawful immigrants. SSA already has told DHS that in "difficult cases,"

1 SSA may be unable to resolve discrepancies within the 90-day timeframe. Despite all these costs, the
 2 majority of which will be borne by “small entities,” as that term is defined in the Regulatory
 3 Flexibility Act, the Secretary, in issuing the Final Rule, certified, without any factual basis, that the
 4 Final Rule “would not have a significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities.”
 5 72 Fed. Reg. 45611, 45623 (Aug. 15, 2007). Accordingly, the Secretary did not conduct an initial
 6 regulatory flexibility analysis or a final regulatory flexibility analysis or comply with any other
 7 requirement of the Regulatory Flexibility Act.

8 VI. CLAIMS

9 FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

10 Failure to Perform a Regulatory Flexibility Analysis (5 U.S.C. § 601 *et seq.*)

11 57. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in ¶¶ 1–56, above.

12 58. The Final Rule will have a significant economic impact on a substantial number of
 13 small entities, including Plaintiff-Intervenors and their small business members. Most small business
 14 employers will have to devote substantial additional resources toward complying with the Final Rule,
 15 and some will lose employees who are otherwise qualified and lawful residents of the United States
 16 merely because SSA is unable to resolve discrepancies in their database within the requisite timer
 17 period. The loss of otherwise qualified and lawful employees will impede productivity and
 18 profitability and interfere with normal and lawful business operations. On information and belief, the
 19 economic impact on small entities will easily exceed \$100 million per annum.

20 59. Despite the Final Rule’s significant economic impact on small entities, the Secretary
 21 failed to undertake a regulatory flexibility analysis, as required by law. Instead, the Secretary
 22 certified, without providing a factual basis as required by the Regulatory Flexibility Act, that the
 23 Final Rule would have no significant economic impact on a substantial number of small entities.

24 60. The Secretary’s certification that there would be no significant economic impact is
 25 wrong and is not supported by the record or the sound factual basis required by the Regulatory
 26 Flexibility Act. In short, the Secretary violated the RFA.

27 61. As a result of the aforesaid violation, Plaintiff-Intervenors and their small entity
 28 members will suffer imminent and irreparable injury if the Final Rule were to go into effect.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
Excess of Statutory Authority
(8 U.S.C. § 1324a & 5 U.S.C. §§ 706(2)(A), (C))

62. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

63. The DHS Final Rule is inconsistent with the governing statute, 8 U.S.C. § 1324a, because the Final Rule expands civil and criminal liability for employers based on a definition of “knowing” that is not what Congress meant by the term “knowing” in the IRCA. The DHS Final Rule is also inconsistent with the governing statute because it establishes a system for re-verification of the work authorization status of continuing employees that is not consistent with Congress’ intent to establish a system of verification of work-authorization status only upon initial hire. The DHS Final Rule is agency action “not in accordance with law” and therefore, violates 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A). It is also in excess of the agency’s “statutory jurisdiction, authority” or “statutory right,” within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C).

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
Arbitrary and Capricious
(5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A))

64. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

65. The DHS Final Rule is “arbitrary” or “capricious” agency action in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A) because it presumes a mis-matched SSN is indicative of an employee’s immigration status when DHS does not have access to the Earnings Suspense File, does not know the probability that an SSN and name mismatch is associated with an undocumented employee, and when the Government Accountability Office has expressly stated that the vast majority of SSN and name mismatches in the SSA database involve United States citizens.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that the Court:

1. Enter a preliminary injunction, pending a decision on the merits, enjoining the Defendants from (i) implementing the Final Rule entitled “Safe Harbor Procedures for Employers That Receive a No Match Letter,” 72 Fed. Reg. 45611 (Aug. 15, 2007), and (ii) mailing new SSA “no-match” letters in an envelope that includes the DHS/ICE Guidance Letter concerning the DHS Final Rule.

1 2. Enter a declaratory judgment as to Counts II and III that the DHS Final Rule is invalid
2 and a permanent injunction to prohibit Defendants from implementing it or otherwise giving effect to
3 the Final Rule.

4 3. Enter a declaratory judgment as to Count I that DHS failed to undertake the required
5 Regulatory Flexibility Act analysis and a permanent injunction to prohibit Defendants from
6 implementing its Final Rule or otherwise giving effect to the Final Rule until such time as Defendant
7 Chertoff discharges his responsibilities under the Regulatory Flexibility Act to the satisfaction of the
8 Court, and retain jurisdiction of this case to ensure compliance with the Regulatory Flexibility Act.

9 4. Award Plaintiff-Intervenors their costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney's
10 fees whether under the Equal Access to Justice Act or otherwise, and expert witness fees; and

11 5. Award such further and additional relief as is just and proper

12
13 Dated:

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP

14
15 By: _____

16 Robert P. Charrow
17 William J. Goines
18 Karen Rosenthal
19 Cindy Hamilton

20 Of Counsel:

21 Robin S. Conrad (DC SBN 342774)
22 Shane Brennan (DC SBN 456402)
23 National Chamber
24 Litigation Center, Inc.
25 1615 H Street, N.W.
26 Washington, D.C. 20062
27 Telephone: (202) 463-5337
28 Facsimile: (202) 463-5346
 Email: RConrad@uschamber.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Intervenors